

## Strengthening Knowledge and Understanding of Dietary Supplements

Home

**Health Information** 

**News & Events** 

Research & Funding

**About ODS** 



#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Carnitine: What is it?

What are recommended intakes for carnitine?

What foods provide carnitine?

Absorption and metabolism of carnitine

When can a carnitine deficiency occur?

What are some current issues and controversies about carnitine?

Are there health risks from too much carnitine?

Carnitine and medication interactions

Supplemental sources of carnitine

Carnitine intakes and healthful

References

Disclaimer

Reviewers

Reviewed: June 15, 2006

## Dietary Supplement Fact Sheet:

# Carnitine

Health Professional Other Resources



#### Carnitine: What is it?

Carnitine, derived from an amino acid, is found in nearly all cells of the body. Its name is derived from the Latin carnus or flesh, as the compound was isolated from meat. Carnitine is the generic term for a number of compounds that include L-carnitine, acetyl-L-carnitine, and propionyl-L-carnitine [1-2].

Carnitine plays a critical role in energy production. It transports long-chain fatty acids into the mitochondria so they can be oxidized ("burned") to produce energy. It also transports the toxic compounds generated out of this cellular organelle to prevent their accumulation. Given these key functions, carnitine is concentrated in tissues like skeletal and cardiac muscle that utilize fatty acids as a dietary fuel [1-2].

The body makes sufficient carnitine to meet the needs of most people. For genetic or medical reasons, some individuals (such as preterm infants), cannot make enough, so for them carnitine is a conditionally essential nutrient [1].

## What are recommended intakes for carnitine?

Healthy children and adults do not need to consume carnitine from food or supplements, as the liver and kidneys produce sufficient amounts from the amino acids lysine and methionine to meet daily needs [1-3]. The Food and Nutrition Board (FNB) of the National Academy of Sciences reviewed studies on the functions of carnitine in 1989 and concluded it was not an essential nutrient [3]. The FNB has not established Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs) including a recommended dietary allowance (RDA)—for carnitine [4].

#### What foods provide carnitine?

Animal products like meat, fish, poultry, and milk are the best sources. In general, the redder the meat, the higher its carnitine content. Dairy products contain carnitine primarily in the whey fraction [1,3,5]. The carnitine content of several foods is listed in Table 1.

Table 1: Selected food sources of carnitine [1]

Food	Milligrams (mg)
Beef steak, cooked, 4 ounces	56-162
Ground beef, cooked, 4 ounces	87-99
Milk, whole, 1 cup	8
Codfish, cooked, 4 ounces	4-7
Chicken breast, cooked, 4 ounces	3-5
Ice cream, ½ cup	3
Cheese, cheddar, 2 ounces	2
Whole-wheat bread, 2 slices	0.2
Asparagus, cooked, ½ cup	0.1

Carnitine occurs in two forms, known as D and L, that are mirror images (isomers) of each other. Only L-carnitine is active in the body and is the form found in food [1,6].

## Absorption and metabolism of carnitine

Adults eating mixed diets that include red meat and other animal products obtain about 60-180 milligrams of carnitine per day [6]. Vegans get considerably less (about 10-12 milligrams) since they avoid animal-derived foods. Most (54-86%) dietary carnitine is absorbed in the small intestine and enters the bloodstream [1,6].

The kidneys efficiently conserve carnitine, so even carnitine-poor diets have little impact on the body's total carnitine content [1,5]. Rather than being metabolized, excess carnitine is excreted in the urine as needed via the kidneys to maintain stable blood concentrations.

## When can a carnitine deficiency occur?

Two types of carnitine deficiency states exist. Primary carnitine deficiency is a genetic disorder of the cellular carnitine-transporter system that usually manifests itself by five years of age with symptoms of cardiomyopathy, skeletal-muscle weakness, and hypoglycemia. Secondary carnitine deficiencies may occur due to certain disorders (such as chronic renal failure) or under particular conditions (e.g., use of certain antibiotics) that reduce carnitine absorption or increase its excretion [1,5]. There is scientific agreement on carnitine's value as a prescription product for treating such deficiencies [2].

#### What are some current issues and controversies about carnitine?

Carnitine has been studied extensively because it is important to energy production and is a well-tolerated and generally safe therapeutic agent [7]. Researchers prefer to use acetyl-L-carnitine in research studies because it is better absorbed from the small intestine than L-carnitine and more efficiently crosses the blood-brain barrier (i.e., gets into brain tissue) [8].

#### Athletic performance

Some athletes take carnitine to improve performance. However, twenty years of research finds no consistent evidence that carnitine supplements can improve exercise or physical performance in healthy subjects—at doses ranging from 2-6 grams/day administered for 1 to 28 days [9-11]. (The total body content of carnitine is about 20 grams in a man weighing 155 pounds, almost all of it in the skeletal muscle [11].) For example, carnitine supplements do not appear to increase the body's use of oxygen or improve metabolic status when exercising, nor do they necessarily increase the amount of carnitine in muscle [10].

#### Aging

A decline in mitochondrial function is thought to contribute to the aging process. Carnitine may be involved because its concentration in tissues declines with age and thereby reduces the integrity of the mitochondrial membrane [12]. Research in aged rats found supplementation with high doses of acetyl-L-carnitine and alphalipoic acid (an antioxidant) to reduce mitochondrial decay [13-15]. The animals also moved about more and improved their performance on memory-requiring tasks. At present there are no equivalent studies of this kind in humans. However, a meta-analysis of double-blind, placebo-controlled studies suggests that supplements of acetyl-L-carnitine may improve mental function and reduce deterioration in older adults with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease [16]. In these studies, subjects took 1.5-3.0 grams/day of acetyl-L-carnitine for 3-12 months.

#### Cardiovascular and peripheral-arterial disease

Several studies have examined supplemental carnitine in the management of cardiac ischemia (restriction of blood flow to the heart) and peripheral arterial disease (of which the most important symptom is poor circulation in the legs, known as intermittent claudication) [17-18]. Because levels of carnitine are low in the failing heart muscle, supplemental amounts might be beneficial to the organ by counteracting the toxic effects of free fatty acids and improving carbohydrate metabolism [17]. In short-term studies, carnitine has demonstrated anti-ischemic properties when given orally and by injection. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter clinical trial in Italy with patients who had suffered a first heart attack found that supplemental carnitine (given intravenously for five days, then 6 grams/day orally for one year) reduced heart failure and overall mortality [19]. The results were not conclusive but promising enough to justify a larger study whose results have not yet been reported [17,20].

Claudication results from an inadequate supply of oxygen-rich blood to the legs and leads to an accumulation of acetylcarnitine in muscle due to its incomplete utilization. Patients with peripheral arterial disease who develop claudication have significant impairments in exercise performance and find it difficult to walk even short distances at a slow speed [18]. Two published randomized, controlled trials raise the possibility that carnitine may improve the performance of skeletal muscles in the leg. In one European multicenter clinical trial, subjects with moderate to severe claudication who were supplemented with L-carnitine (in the form of propionyl-L-carnitine at 2 grams/day for 12 months) significantly improved their maximal walking distance and perceived quality of life as compared to subjects receiving the placebo [21]. A similar multicenter trial in the United States and Russia found the same daily dose and form of carnitine administered for 6 months in patients with disabling claudication to significantly improve walking distance and speed, reduce bodily pain, enhance physical function, and improve perceived health state as compared to controls [22].

#### Cancer

Fatigue resulting from chemotherapy, radiation treatment, and poor nutritional status is common in cancer patients [23]. They may also be deficient in carnitine [23]. In one study, treatment with carnitine supplements (4 grams/day for one week) ameliorated fatigue in most chemotherapy-treated subjects and restored normal blood levels of carnitine [24]. In another trial, terminal cancer patients supplemented with carnitine (doses ranged from 250 milligrams to 3 grams/day) experienced less fatigue and improved mood and quality of sleep [23]. In both studies, most subjects were carnitine deficient before taking the supplements.

## Type 2 diabetes

Insulin resistance, which plays an important role in the development of type 2 diabetes, may be associated with a defect in fatty-acid oxidation in muscle [25]. This raises the question as to whether mitochondrial dysfunction might be a factor in the development of the disease. Increased storage of fat in lean tissues has become a marker for insulin resistance [25]. Early research suggests that supplementation with L-carnitine intravenously may improve insulin sensitivity in diabetics by decreasing fat levels in muscle and may lower glucose levels in the blood

by more promptly increasing its oxidation in cells [25-27]. A recent analysis of two multicenter clinical trials of subjects with either type 1 or type 2 diabetes found that treatment with acetyl-L-carnitine (3 grams/day orally) for one year provided significant relief of nerve pain and improved vibration perception in those with diabetic neuropathy. The treatment was most effective in subjects with type 2 diabetes of short duration [28].

#### HIV and AIDS

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) causes a decline in the number of lymphocytes (one type of white blood cell), resulting in acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). HIV-infected individuals often accumulate fat in some areas of the body and lose fat in others and develop high levels of blood fats (hyperlipidemia) and insulin resistance, which together constitute the lipodystrophy syndrome. This syndrome may represent mitochondrial toxicity brought about by the HIV infection and the antiretroviral drugs used to treat it, and can induce a carnitine deficiency that limits mitochondrial fat metabolism [29]. The molecular mechanisms by which this occurs are poorly understood. Preliminary research provides conflicting findings [30] but suggests that supplementation with carnitine both intravenously and orally (at doses of 2-6 grams/day for weeks or months) in HIV-infected individuals may slow the death of lymphocytes (which in turn may slow HIV progression) [31-32], reduce neuropathy [33-35], and favorably affect blood lipid levels [36-38].

#### End-stage renal disease and hemodialysis

Carnitine homeostasis (balance within the body) among individuals with renal diseases can be substantially impaired by several factors, particularly reduced synthesis and increased elimination of the compound by the kidneys as well as reduced intake from food due to poor appetite and consumption of fewer animal products [39]. Many patients with end-stage renal disease, particularly those on hemodialysis, become carnitine insufficient. Carnitine blood levels and muscle stores are low, which may contribute to anemia, muscle weakness, fatigue, altered levels of blood fats, and heart disorders. Numerous studies suggest that high doses of supplemental carnitine (often injected) in patients on maintenance hemodialysis can correct some or all of these symptoms, though most involve small numbers of patients and are not double-blinded trials. A recent meta-analysis of these studies concludes that carnitine supplements may aid anemia management but not blood-lipid profiles, and that their effects on exercise capacity or heart stability are inconclusive [40].

#### Male infertility

The carnitine content of seminal fluid is directly related to sperm count and motility [41-42], suggesting that the compound might be of value in treating male infertility. Several studies indicate that carnitine supplementation (2-3 grams/day for 3-4 months) may improve sperm quality [43-45], and one randomized, double-blind crossover trial found that 2 grams/day of carnitine taken for 2 months by 100 infertile men increased the concentration and both total and forward motility of their sperm [46]. The reported benefits may relate to increased mitochondrial fatty-acid oxidation (providing more energy for sperm) and reduced cell death in the testes [47]. However, a recent randomized controlled trial with 21 infertile men found that 3 grams/day of carnitine taken for 24 weeks produced no significant increases in sperm motility or total motile sperm counts as compared to placebo [48]. Larger and more carefully designed studies are needed to evaluate carnitine's potential value as an infertility therapy.

#### Are there health risks from too much carnitine?

At doses of approximately 3 grams/day, carnitine supplements may cause nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps, diarrhea, and a "fishy" body odor [1-2]. More rare side effects include muscle weakness in uremic patients and seizures in those with seizure disorders.

## Carnitine and medication interactions

Carnitine interacts with pivalate-conjugated antibiotics such as pivampicillin that are used in the long-term prevention of urinary-tract infections [49]. Chronic administration of these antibiotics increases the excretion of pivaloyl-carnitine, which can lead to carnitine depletion. However, while tissue carnitine levels may become low enough to limit fatty acid oxidation, no cases of illness due to deficiency have been described [1,6]. Blood concentrations of carnitine may be reduced in children treated for convulsions with phenobarbital, valproic acid, phenytoin, or carbamazepine, but no clinical consequences have been shown [50-51].

#### Supplemental sources of carnitine

L-carnitine, acetyl-L-carnitine, and propionyl-L-carnitine are available over-the-counter as dietary supplements. Carnitine is often promoted as an aid for weight loss, to improve exercise performance, and to enhance a sense of well-being [2]. It is also a drug approved by the Food and Drug Administration to treat primary and certain secondary carnitine-deficiency syndromes.

## Carnitine intakes and healthful diets

Most people obtain sufficient carnitine because of the body's natural production of the substance as well as from their diets. The *Dietary Guidelines for Americans* describes a healthy diet as one that:

- emphasizes a variety of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, and fat-free or low-fat milk and milk products;
- includes lean meats, poultry, fish, beans, eggs, and nuts;
- is low in saturated fats, trans fats, cholesterol, salt (sodium), and added sugars; and
- stays within your daily calorie needs.

For more information about building a healthful diet, refer to the *Dietary Guidelines for Americans* (<a href="http://www.healthierus.gov/dietaryguidelines/index.html">http://www.healthierus.gov/dietaryguidelines/index.html</a>) and the U.S. Department of Agriculture's food guidance system (*MyPyramid*; <a href="http://www.mypyramid.gov">http://www.mypyramid.gov</a>).

#### References

- Rebouche CJ. Carnitine. In: Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease, 9th Edition (edited by Shils ME, Olson JA, Shike M, Ross, AC). Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, New York, 1999, pp. 505-12.
- 2. The editors. Carnitine: lessons from one hundred years of research. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:ix-xi.
- National Research Council. Food and Nutrition Board. Recommended Dietary Allowances, 10th Edition. National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1989.
- 4. Institute of Medicine. Food and Nutrition Board. Dietary Reference Intakes. 2005. http://www.iom.edu/project.asp?id=4574.
- 5. Stanley CA. Carnitine deficiency disorders in children. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:42-51.
- Rebouche CJ. Kinetics, pharmacokinetics, and regulation of L-carnitine and acetyl-L-carnitine metabolism. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:30-41.
- 7. Foster DW. The role of the carnitine system in human metabolism. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:1-16.
- 8. Liu J, Head E, Kuratsune H, Cotman CW, Ames BN. Comparison of the effects of L-carnitine and acetyl-L-carnitine on carnitine levels, ambulatory activity, and oxidative stress biomarkers in the brain of old rats. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:117-31.
- 9. Brass EP, Hiatt WR. The role of carnitine and carnitine supplementation during exercise in man and in individuals with special needs. J Am Coll Nutr 1998;17:207-15.
- 10. Brass EP. Supplemental carnitine and exercise. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72:618S-23S.
- 11. Brass EP. Carnitine and sports medicine: use or abuse? Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:67-78.
- 12. Ames BN, Liu J. Delaying the mitochondrial decay of aging with acetylcarnitine. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004:1033:108-16.
- Hagen TM, Liu J, Lykkesfeldt J, Wehr CM, Ingersoll RT, Vinarsky V, Bartholomew JC, Ames BN. Feeding acetyl-L-carnitine and lipoic acid to old rats significantly improves metabolic function while decreasing oxidative stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:1870-5.
- 14. Liu J, Killilea D, Ames BN. Age-associated mitochondrial oxidative decay: improvement of carnitine acetyltransferase substrate-binding affinity and activity in brain by feeding old rats acetyl-L-carnitine and/or R-a-lipoic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:1876-81.
- 15. Liu J, Head E, Gharib AM, Yuan W, Ingersoll RT, Hagen TM, Cotman CW, Ames BN. Memory loss in old rats is associated with brain mitochondrial decay and RNA/DNA oxidation: partial reversal by feeding acetyl-L-carnitine and/or R-a-lipoic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:2356-61.
- Montgomery SA, Thal LJ, Amrein R. Meta-analysis of double blind randomized controlled clinical trials of acetyl-L-carnitine versus placebo in the treatment of mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease. Int Clin Psychopharmacol 2003;18:61-71.
- 17. Ferrari R, Merli E, Cicchitelli G, Mele D, Fucili A, Ceconi C. Therapeutic effects of L-carnitine and propionyl-L-carnitine on cardiovascular diseases: a review. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:79-91.
- 18. Hiatt WR. Carnitine and peripheral arterial disease. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:92-8.
- 19. Iliceto S, Scrutinio D, Bruzzi P, D'Ambrosio G, Boni L, Biase MD, Biasco G, Hugenholtz PG, Rizzon P. Effects of L-carnitine administration on left ventricular remodeling after acute anterior myocardial infarction: the L-Carnitine Ecocardiografia Digitalizzata Infarto Miocardico (CEDIM) Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995;26:380-7.
- 20. Colonna P, Iliceto S. Myocardial infarction and left ventricular remodeling: results of the CEDIM trial. Am Heart J 2000;139:s124-30.
- 21. Brevetti G, Diehm C, Lambert D. European multicenter study on priopionyl-L-carnitine in intermittent claudication. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;34:1618-24.
- Hiatt WR, Regensteiner JG, Creager MA, Hirsch AT, Cooke JP, Olin JW, Gorbunov GN, Isner J, Lukjanov YV, Tsitsiashvili MS, Zabelskaya TF, Amato A. Propionyl-L-carnitine improves exercise performance and functional status in patients with claudication. Am J Med 2001;110:616-22.
- Cruciani RA, Dvorkin E, Homel P, Culliney B, Malamud S, Shaiova L, Fleishman S, Lapin J, Klein E, Lesage P, Portenoy R, Esteban-Cruciani N. L-carnitine supplementation for the treatment of fatigue and depressed mood in cancer patients with carnitine deficiency: a preliminary analysis. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:168-76.
- 24. Graziano F, Bisonni R, Catalano V, Silva R, Rovidati S, Mencarini E, Ferraro B, Canestrari F, Baldelli AM, De Caetano A, Giordani P, Testa E, Lai V. Potential role of levocarnitine supplementation for the treatment of chemotherapy-induced fatigue in non-anaemic cancer patients. Br J Cancer 2002;86:1854-7.
- 25. Mingrone G. Carnitine in type 2 diabetes. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:99-107.
- 26. De Gaetano A, Mingrone G, Castagneto M, Calvani M. Carnitine increases glucose disposal in humans. J Am Coll Nutr 1999;18:289-95.
- 27. Mingrone G, Greco AV, Capristo E, Benedetti G, Giancaterini A, De Gaetano A, Gasbarrini G. L-carnitine improves glucose disposal in type 2 diabetic patients. J Am Coll Nutr 1999;77-82.
- 28. Sima AAF, Calvani M, Mehra M, Amato A. Acetyl-L-carnitine improves pain, nerve regeneration, and vibratory perception in patients with chronic diabetic neuropathy: an analysis of two randomized placebocontrolled trials. Diabetes Care 2005;28:96-101.
- 29. Day L, Shikuma C, Gerschenson M. Acetyl-L-carnitine for the treatment of HIV lipoatrophy. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:139-46.
- Ilias I, Manoli I, Blackman MR, Gold PW, Slesci S. L-carnitine and acetyl-L-carnitine in the treatment of complications associated with HIV infection and antiretroviral therapy. Mitochondrion 2004;4:163-8.
- 31. Moretti S, Alesse E, Di Marzio L, Zazzeroni F, Ruggeri B, Marcellini S, Famularo G, Steinberg SM, Boschini A,

- Cifone MG, De Simone C. Effect of L-carnitine on human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection-associated apoptosis: a pilot study. Blood 1998;91:3817-24.
- 32. Di Marzio L, Moretti S, D'Alò S, Zazzeroni F, Marcellini S, Smacchia C, Alesse E, Cifone MG, De Simone C. Acetyl-L-carnitine administration increases insulin-like growth factor 1 levels in asymptomatic HIV-1-infected subjects: correlation with its suppressive effect on lymphocyte apoptosis and ceramide generation. Clin Immunol 1999;92:103-10.
- 33. Scarpini E, Sacilotto G, Baron P, Cusini M, Scarlato G. Effect of acetyl-L-carnitine in the treatment of painful peripheral neuropathies in HIV+ patients. J Peripher Nerv Syst 1997;2:250-2.
- 34. Simpson DM, Katzenstein D, Haidich B, Millington D, Yiannoutsos C, Schifitto G, McArthur J. Plasma carnitine in HIV-associated neuropathy. AIDS 2001;15:2207-8.
- 35. Osio M, Muscia F, Zampini L, Nascimbene C, Mailland E, Cargnel A, Mariani C. Acetyl-l-carnitine in the treatment of painful antiretroviral neuropathy in human immunodeficiency virus patients: an open label study. J Peripher Nerv Syst 2006;11:72-6.
- 36. De Simone C, Famularo G, Tzantzoglou S, Trinchieri V, Moretti S, Sorice F. Carnitine depletion in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with AIDS: effect of oral L-carnitine. AIDS 1994;8:655-60.
- 37. Loignon M, Toma E. L-carnitine for the treatment of highly active antiretroviral therapy-related hypertriglyceridemia in HIV-infected adults. AIDS 2001;15:1194-5.
- 38. Mauss S, Schmutz G. L-carnitine in the treatment of HIV-associated lipodystrophy syndrome. HIV Med 2001:2:59-60.
- 39. Calvani M, Benatti P, Mancinelli A, D'Iddio S, Giordano V, Koverech A, Amato A, Brass EP. Carnitine replacement in end-stage renal disease and hemodialysis. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:52-66.
- 40. Hurot J-M, Cucherat M, Haugh M, Fouque D. Effects of L-carnitine supplementation in maintenance hemodialysis patients: a systematic review. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002;13:708-14.
- 41. Menchini-Fabris GF, Canale D, Izzo PL, Olivieri L, Bartelloni M. Free L-carnitine in human semen: its variability in different andrologic pathologies. Fertil Steril 1984;42:263-7.
- 42. Matalliotakis I, Koumantaki Y, Evageliou A, Matalliotakis G, Goumenou A, Koumantakis E. L-carnitine levels in the seminal plasma of fertile and infertile men: correlation with sperm quality. Int J Fertil Womens Med 2000;45:236-40.
- 43. Costa M, Canale D, Filicori M, D'Iddio S, Lenzi A. L-carnitine in idiopathic asthenozoospermia: a multicenter study. Italian study group on carnitine and male infertility. Andrologia 1994;3:155-9.
- 44. Vitali G, Parente R, Melotti C. Carnitine supplementation in human idiopathic asthenospermia: clinical results. Drugs Exp Clin Res 1995;21:157-9.
- 45. Vicari E, Calogero AE. Effects of treatment with carnitines in infertile patients with prostato-vesiculo-epididymitis. Hum Reprod 2001;16:2338-42.
- 46. Lenzi A, Lombardo F, Sgrò P, Salacone P, Caponecchia L, Dondero F, Gandini L. Use of carnitine therapy in selected cases of male factor infertility: a double-blind crossover trial. Fertil Steril 2003;79:292-300.
- 47. Ng CM, Blackman MR, Wang C, Swerdloff RS. The role of carnitine in the male reproductive system. Ann NY Acad Sci 2004;1033:177-88.
- 48. Sigman M, Glass S, Campagnone J, Pryor JL. Carnitine for the treatment of idiopathic asthenospermia: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Fertil Steril 2006;in press.
- 49. Brass EP. Pivalate-generating prodrugs and carnitine homeostasis in man. Pharmacol Rev 2002;54:589-98.
- 50. Hug G, McGraw CA, Bates SR, Landrigan EA. Reduction of serum carnitine concentrations during anticonvulsant therapy with phenobarbital, valproic acid, phenytoin, and carbamazepine in children. J Pediatr 1991:119:799-802.
- 51. Castro-Gago M, Eiris-Punal J, Novo-Rodriguez MI, Couceiro J, Camina F, Rodriguez-Segade S. Serum carnitine levels in epileptic children before and during treatment with valproic acid, carbamazepine, and phenobarbital. J Child Neurol 1998;13:546-9.
- Alesci S, Manoli I, Costello R, Coates P, Gold PW, Chrousos GP, Blackman MR (editors). Carnitine: The Science Behind a Conditionally Essential Nutrient. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences (volume 1033), New York, 2004.

#### Disclaimer

This fact sheet by the Office of Dietary Supplements provides information that should not take the place of medical advice. We encourage you to talk to your health care providers (doctor, registered dietitian, pharmacist, etc.) about your interest in, questions about, or use of dietary supplements and what may be best for your overall health. Any mention in this publication of a specific brand name is not an endorsement of the product.

## Reviewers

ODS thanks the expert scientific reviewers for their role in ensuring the scientific accuracy of the information discussed in these Fact Sheets, along with the Nutrition Education Subcommittee of the NIH, the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Dietary Guidance Working Group, and the Department of Health and Human Services Nutrition Policy Board Committee on Dietary Guidance. Reviewers of Carnitine Fact Sheet: Salvatore Alesci, M.D., Ph.D., National Institutes of Health Marc R. Blackman, M.D., National Institutes of Health Irini Manoli, M.D., University of Athens, Greece

Contact Us | Accessibility | Site Policies | Disclaimer | Información en español





